097

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

$\Gamma \perp$	L		
SII	W وار D	WTE.	_v(~~1
001	. <i> </i>	1004	618
υψ	<i>#</i>	1991	•,
CLERK,	PRE	ME COL	JRT.
By J	<i>'</i>	1	

Chief Deputy Clerk

DIMMITT CHEVROLET, INC. and DIMMITT CADILLAC, INC.,
Defendants, Appellants,
v.
SOUTHEASTERN FIDELITY INSURANCE CORPORATION
Plaintiff, Appellee.

APPEAL NO. 78-293

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

USCA NO. 90-3359

APPELLANTS' INTITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Thomas K. Bick Joseph W. Dorn

KILPATRICK & CODY 700 THIRTEENTH STREET, N.W. SUITE 800 WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 (202) 508-5800

Counsel for Appellants

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. QUESTION PRESENTED

The following question has been certified to this Court by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit:

Whether, as a matter of law, the pollution exclusion clause contained in the comprehensive general liability insurance policy precludes coverage to its insured for liability for the environmental contamination that occurred in this case.

Industrial Indem. Ins. Co. v. Crown Auto Dealerships, Inc., 935 F.2d 240, 243 (11th Cir. 1991) (hereinafter "Crown Auto II").

The above statement of the certified question can be divided into two distinct but related issues:

- (1) Did the district court err in holding that the word "sudden" in the pollution exclusion can only refer to pollution events that are abrupt and immediate in a temporal sense, unambiguously relieving an insurer of its duty to defend and indemnify against claims for property damage that is neither expected nor intended by the policyholders?
- (2) In the alternative, assuming that the word "sudden" in the pollution exclusion refers only to events that are abrupt and immediate in time, did the district court err in holding that where both gradual and abrupt discharges of contaminants cause indivisible property damage, coverage for such damage is barred by the exclusion?

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURTS BELOW

In October 1988, Plaintiff/Appellee Southeastern Fidelity
Insurance Company ("Southeastern") filed a declaratory judgment

action against Defendants/Appellants Dimmitt Chevrolet, Inc. and Dimmitt Cadillac Inc. ("the Dimmitts") in the United States

District Court for the Middle District of Florida. The complaint sought a declaration that Southeastern owed no duty to defend or indemnify the Dimmitts under the Comprehensive General Liability ("CGL") insurance policies Southeastern sold to the Dimmitts from 1974 through 1981.

On March 1, 1990, the district court (Hodges, J.) entered an order granting Southeastern's motion for summary judgment and denying the Dimmitts' cross-motion for partial summary judgment.

Industrial Indem. Ins. Co. v. Crown Auto Dealerships. Inc., et al., 731 F. Supp. 1517 (M.D. Fla. 1990) (hereinafter "Crown Auto I"). The sole basis of the Order was the court's conclusion that the qualified pollution exclusion clause in the standard-form CGL policies barred the Dimmitts' coverage claims. The court reasoned that because the property damage was caused by pollution that could not be characterized as "sudden and accidental" within the meaning of that phrase in the pollution exclusion,

Southeastern had no duty to defend or indemnify the Dimmitts.²

The qualified pollution exclusion clause is also referred to as the "polluter's exclusion." The clause has no title or heading in most standard-form CGL policies, including the policies at issue here. The clause is referred to in this brief as the "pollution exclusion."

The district court failed to address a critical distinction: while the insurer's duty to indemnify is to be based on the factual record as a whole, its duty to defend is based solely on a comparison between the policy language and the allegations in the underlying complaint. Tropical Park, Inc. v. United States Fidelity & Guar. Co., 357 So. 2d 253, 256 (Fla. 3d (continued...)

The district court's analysis did not address a category of evidence that other courts have found highly persuasive in interpreting identical policy language: evidence of the insurance industry's intent when incorporating the "pollution exclusion" into standard-form CGL policies in the early 1970's. Most of this interpretative evidence was not before the district court at the time it rendered its initial decision. Accordingly, the Dimmitts moved the district court to alter or amend its decision in light of this evidence. The court denied that motion without opinion on April 4, 1990.

The Dimmitts appealed the decision of the district court to the Eleventh Circuit, which certified the question on appeal to this Court on July 10, 1991. Among other things, the Eleventh Circuit concluded in its certification opinion that "the record

²(...continued) DCA 1978). "If the allegations of the complaint leave any doubts regarding the duty to defend, the question must be resolved in favor of the insured requiring the insurer to defend. " Florida Ins. Guar. Assoc. v. Giordano, 485 So. 2d 453, 456 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); see also, Keller Indus. Inc. v. Employers Mutual Liab. Ins. Co., 429 So. 2d 779 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (duty arises if "some allegations in the complaint arguably [fall] within coverage of policy"). The district court made no such distinction between the duty to defend and the duty to indemnify. The Dimmitts also raised other coverage arguments regarding Southeastern's duty to indemnify besides those addressed in their motion for partial summary judgment. Accordingly, even should this Court confirm the district court's holding on the certified question, the Eleventh Circuit should remand the case to the district court to address the duty to defend issue and the Dimmitts' other arguments on the duty to indemnify.

³ The reason this interpretive evidence was not addressed in the district court's initial decision is explained in the Eleventh Circuit's certification decision. <u>See</u> Crown Auto II, 935 F.2d at 243 n.3.

properly includes the extrinsic evidence submitted by Dimmitt regarding the drafting history of the pollution exclusion clause and the intent of the insurance companies." Crown Auto II, 935 F.2d at 243 n.3.

C. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. The Dimmitts' Relationship To The Peak Oil Company

The key facts relevant to the issue on appeal, many of which have been summarized in the opinion of the federal appellate and district courts, have not been disputed by Southeastern. The Dimmitts operate two automobile dealerships in the Tampa, Florida area. 731 F. Supp. at 1518. From 1974 to 1979, they sold used crankcase oil, a by-product of their automobile servicing operations, to the Peak Oil Company ("Peak"). Peak collected the used oil from the Dimmitts' automobile service facilities and trucked it to the site of its used oil reprocessing plant in Hillsborough County, Florida ("the Site"). There, Peak filtered and reprocessed the oil into valuable products for resale. Id.

Four years after the Dimmitts stopped selling used oil to Peak, the Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") determined that Peak's oil recycling process had resulted in extensive soil and groundwater pollution at the site. 731 F. Supp. at 1518. This pollution was "derived from the [Peak Oil] company's having placed waste oil sludge in unlined storage ponds" and "from oil spills and leaks at the site as well as from occasional runoff of contaminated water." Id.

As both the federal appellate and district courts observed, much of the Contamination that occurred at the Site was the result of accidents. The district court quoted the following undisputed passage from the affidavit of David Morris:

[A] number of accidental overflows occurred during the filling of the used oil holding tanks, some of which resulted in fairly large spills. . . . There were also occasional spills due to leak [sic] hose and pipe connections . . . Also despite our efforts to impress on our employees the need for safety at all times, occasional carelessness by employees resulted in accidental spills during the transfer of used oil from trucks to storage tanks. I recall a number of accidental spills that occurred when a byproduct of the distillate process was pumped to a storage tank . . .

731 F. Supp. at 1521. In addition, as the Eleventh Circuit pointed out, some of the pollution resulted from "a 1978 incident in which a dike collapsed and allowed oily wastewater to be released from a holding pond " 935 F.2d at 242.

Southeastern does not dispute the Dimmitts' assertion that they were not even aware of the contamination that occurred at the Site. Southeastern has offered no evidence in response to the Dimmitts' affidavit testimony that (1) the Dimmitts never intended or expected any of the releases of used oil or other materials that occurred at the Site, much less the resulting property damage; and (2) they never considered the used oil sold to Peak to be a waste in need of disposal; rather, they understood all of the used oil was to be reprocessed and sold as a usable product. Indeed, because Peak's trucks collected the

used oil directly from the Dimmitts' service facilities, there was no need for any employee of the Dimmitts to ever visit the Site. The Dimmitts' alleged Superfund liability is based solely on the allegation that they sold used crankcase oil to the Peak Oil Company for recycling. The EPA has never suggested that the Dimmitts themselves ever released, discharged, or dispersed used oil or any other contaminant at the Site.

2. The Dimmitts' Insurance Coverage

The CGL policies that Southeastern sold to the Dimmitts provided coverage for

all sums which the INSURED shall become legally obligated to pay as DAMAGES because of A. BODILY INJURY or B. PROPERTY DAMAGE to which this insurance applies, caused by an occurrence, and the Company shall have the right and duty to defend any suit against the INSURED seeking DAMAGES on account of such BODILY INJURY or PROPERTY DAMAGE, even if any of the allegations of the suit are groundless . . .

731 F. Supp. at 1519. An "occurrence" is defined as:

an accident including continuous or repeated exposure to conditions, which result in BODILY INJURY or PROPERTY DAMAGE neither expected or intended from the standpoint of the insured

Id.

^{4(...}continued)

[&]quot;notation used herein identifies documents in the record as certified to the Eleventh Circuit by the district court. The notation format is the same as required by the Circuit Court's rules.)

⁵ Affidavit of David Morris, R2-35-Exh. D at 7.

⁶ <u>See</u> Exhibit 1 to Complaint, Record Excerpts, Tab 2. ("Record Excerpts" as used herein identifies district court pleadings and opinions that were separately compiled and submitted to the Circuit Court pursuant to the rules of that court.)

The policy excluded coverage for

BODILY INJURY or PROPERTY DAMAGE arising out of the discharge, dispersal, release or escape of smoke, vapors, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, toxic chemicals, liquids or gases, waste materials . . . into or upon land, the atmosphere or any water course or body of water; but this exclusion does not apply if such discharge, dispersal, release or escape is sudden and accidental.

Id. (emphasis added). The issue before this Court is the meaning and effect of the phrase "sudden and accidental" in the underscored language quoted above. The parties agree that Florida law governs the resolution of this issue.

3. The Dimmitts' Coverage Claim

In February 1989, the EPA issued two administrative orders to the Dimmitts and other parties alleged to be liable for contamination at the Site under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act ("CERCLA"), 42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq. (also known as the Superfund law). Pursuant to these orders, allegedly liable parties, including the Dimmitts, agreed to undertake remedial measures at the Site. 731 F. Supp. at 1519. Prior to the issuance of these orders, the Dimmitts timely notified Southeastern of the EPA's claims and requested Southeastern to defend and indemnify them against those claims. Crown Auto I, 731 F. Supp. at 1519. Southeastern initially provided a defense under reservation of rights, but refused to

⁷ It is the EPA's position that the Dimmitts, and numerous other generators of used oil sent to the Peak Oil Site for recycling, are strictly, jointly, and severally liable for the cost of cleaning up the Site pursuant to Section 107(a)(3) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a)(3). See the EPA's Conclusions of Law at 6-7 and at 3-4. The Dimmitts do not admit such liability.

indemnify; it later refused to defend as well. In denying coverage, Southeastern asserted, among other things, that coverage was precluded by operation of the pollution exclusion. Southeastern Complaint ¶ 10(c), at 4.

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As the district court notes, the Dimmitts contend they are entitled to insurance coverage because "it is undisputed that [the Dimmitts] never intended to cause contamination at Peak and, from their perspective, the resulting pollution caused by leaks, spills, and releases was accidental." Crown Auto I, 731 F. Supp. at 1520. In denying coverage, the district court concluded that the phrase "sudden and accidental" in the pollution exclusion could only be interpreted to mean "pollution which occurs abruptly, instantly, or within a very short period of time." Id. at 1520. Finding that some of the pollution at Peak occurred "gradually and as a normal result of Peak's business operations," the court reasoned that none of the pollution could be considered "sudden and accidental." Id.

The district court's decision is flawed in several respects. The majority of the courts that have addressed this issue--including the highest courts of Colorado, Wisconsin and Georgia and also two lower Florida state courts in the past year--have concluded that the exclusion does not bar coverage for gradual pollution if that pollution was not expected or intended by the policyholder. Moreover, the district court's reading of the exclusion conflicts with settled Florida law governing the

construction of insurance contracts, including the fundamental principle that courts must adopt the policyholder's reasonable interpretation of an undefined term that appears in a policy exclusion.

As noted above, the district court's decision also fails to address irrefutable evidence that the insurance industry itself intended the pollution exclusion to mean precisely what the Dimmitts say it means here. In contemporaneous statements by insurance industry drafters of the exclusion, in explanations by industry trade associations to state regulators at the time the exclusion was first added to CGL policies, and in other "drafting history" of the exclusion, industry representatives consistently stated that the exclusion was meant to preclude coverage only for deliberate polluters regardless of whether the pollution occurred gradually or abruptly.

"sudden and accidental" in the exclusion lends itself to at least two reasonable meanings, (2) that courts and commentators nationwide have adopted sharply differing interpretations of the phrase, and (3) that even today the insurance industry itself reads the phrase in different ways, there can be no question that "sudden and accidental" is, at the very least, an ambiguous policy term. In Florida, this alone requires a finding of coverage.

Finally, even accepting for the sake of argument that "sudden and accidental" can only refer to pollution events that

are abrupt and instantaneous, there is still coverage. The district court acknowledged that much of the pollution at the Site did result from abrupt, accidental releases of contaminants. Under CERCLA's strict, joint, and several liability scheme, the EPA considers the Dimmitts liable for all of the Site contamination, including that caused by both abrupt and gradual pollution events. Accordingly, the Dimmitts have insurance coverage for all indivisible damage that occurred at the Site, even under the district court's erroneous reading of "sudden and accidental."

III. ARGUMENT

A. UNDER FLORIDA RULES OF CONTRACT CONSTRUCTION, THE "POLLUTION EXCLUSION" MUST BE READ TO BAR COVERAGE ONLY FOR POLICYHOLDERS WHO DELIBERATELY POLLUTE THE ENVIRONMENT.

Although acknowledging that the Dimmitts were unaware of the pollution at the Peak Oil Site, the district court concluded that such pollution could not be characterized as "sudden and accidental" within the meaning of the pollution exclusion clause in the Dimmitts' CGL policies. This conclusion is contrary to the majority of the cases that have interpreted the scope of the exclusion, including recent decisions of the highest courts of Georgia, Wisconsin, and Colorado. Claussen v. Aetna Casualty & Sur. Co., 380 S.E.2d 686 (Ga. 1989) (hereinafter "Claussen");8

This opinion resolved a certified question to the Georgia Supreme Court from the Eleventh Circuit. The full citation is Claussen v. Aetna Casualty & Sur. Co., 676 F. Supp. 1571, 1573 (S.D. Ga. 1987) question certified, 865 F.2d 1217 (11th Cir. (continued...)

Just v. Land Reclamation. Ltd., 456 N.W.2d 570 (Wis. 1990)

(hereinafter "Just"); and Hecla Mining Co. v. New Hampshire Ins.

Co, 811 P.2d 1083 (Colo. 1991) (hereinafter "Hecla"). The

decision is also in conflict with the only two Florida state

courts that have interpreted the exclusion. Safe Harbor Enters.

Inc. v. United States Fidelity & Guar. Co., No. 90-1099-CA-03,

slip. op. (Fla. 16th Cir. Ct. May 28, 1991) (hereinafter "Safe

Harbor") and State of Fla. Dep't. of Envt'l Reg. v. Delicio, No.

CL-90-389, slip op. (15th Cir. Ct. Sept. 22, 1990). 10

The district court's decision disregards well-established

Florida rules for the construction of insurance contracts. Under

Florida law, an insurance contract is presumed to be a contract

of adhesion, drafted by experts for the insurer and presented to

the policyholder on a "take or leave it" basis. Financial Fire &

Casualty Co. v. Callaham, 199 So. 2d 529, 531 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967);

Firemans Fund Ins. Co. of San Francisco v. Boyd, 45 So. 2d 499

(Fla. 1950). As such, the burden rests on the insurer-draftsmen

to use "clear and unmistakenable" language. United States

Aviation Underwriters v. Van Houtin, 453 So. 2d 475, 477 (Fla. 2d

^{8(...}continued)
1989, certified question answered, 380 S.E.2d 686 (Ga. 1989); and
later op., 888 F.2d 747 (11th Cir. 1989).

This decision is reported in 5 Mealey's Litig. Reps. #29, B-1 (June 4, 1991). A copy of this decision is provided in Appendix A.

¹⁰ A copy of Judge Oftedal's order is appended to the Reply Brief For Appellants to the United States Court of Appeal for the Eleventh Circuit (hereinafter "Appellants' Reply Brief to Court of Appeals") as Appendix B.

DCA 1984). The policy must be construed "liberally in favor of coverage" unless the contrary intent clearly appears in the contract. Id. See also New Amsterdam Casualty Co. v. Addison, 169 So. 2d 877, 881 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964).

A corollary of this principle is that where a term is not defined in an insurance contract, but may be reasonably interpreted as to find coverage, such an interpretation must be adopted. Stuyvesant Ins. Co. v. Butler, 314 So. 2d 567, 570 (Fla. 1975); Triano v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co., 565 So. 2d 748, 749 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); Trizec Properties, Inc. v. Biltmore Constr. Co., 767 F.2d 810, 812 (11th Cir. 1985); Security Ins. Co. of Hartford v. Investors Diversified Ltd., Inc., 407 So. 2d 314 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); Ellenwood v. Southern United Life Ins. Co., 373 So. 2d 392, 395 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979).

The principle of resolving uncertainties in favor of coverage applies with particular force, where, as here, an insurer seeks to rely upon a clause of exclusion designed to limit coverage otherwise afforded. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins.

Co. v. Pridgen, 498 So. 2d 1245, 1248 (Fla. 1986); Lane v.

Allstate Ins. Co., 472 So. 2d 823, 824 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

Under such circumstances, the exclusion must be construed strictly against the insurer and liberally in favor of the insured. Id.; Demshar v. AAA Con. Auto Transp. Co. v. Johns, 337 So. 2d 963, 965 (Fla. 1976); Michigan Mut. Liab. Co. v. Mattox, 173 So. 2d 754, 756 (Fla. 1st DCA 1965). Consistent with this rule, the insurer has the burden of proving that coverage does

not exist because of a policy exclusion. <u>Hudson v. Prudential</u>

<u>Property & Casualty Ins. Co.</u>, 450 So. 2d 565, 568 (Fla. 2d DCA

1984); Van Houtin, 453 So. 2d at 477.

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