IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DIMMITT CHEVROLET, INC. and DIMMITT CADILLAC, INC.,

Defendants, Appellants,

v.

SOUTHEASTERN FIDELITY INSURANCE CORPORATION

Plaintiff, Appellee

APPEAL NO. 78,293

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

USCA NO. 90-3359

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE SOUTHEASTERN FIDELITY INSURANCE COMPANY

Hal K. Litchford
Florida Bar No. 272485
Kristyn D. Elliott
One duPont Centre
Suite 2200
Post Office Box 1549
Orlando, Florida 32802
(407) 422-6600
Associate Counsel
for Appellee

Robert E. Austin, Jr.
Florida Bar No. 2701
Suite C
1321 W. Citizens Boulevard
Post Office Box 490200
Leesburg, Florida 34749-0200
(904) 728-0595

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue before this Court is a pure question of law involving a straightforward interpretation of an exclusion in a standard insurance policy and its application to undisputed facts. The pollution involved in this case accumulated over a twenty-five year period of operation of a used oil re-refining plant. In the course of this business, waste oil was continuously dumped and retained in unlined acid sludge pits. Over time, harmful chemicals from the waste leached into the soil and aquifer. As a further routine part of the oil recycling business, oil spills, leaks, and occasional run-offs of contaminated rain water regularly occurred. The undisputed evidence of environmental contamination "demonstrates that the pollution occurred gradually and as a normal result of Peak's business operations." Crown Auto, 731 F. Supp. at 1520.

On this factual record, it is undisputed by the direct parties to this appeal that the gradual contamination that occurred at the Peak Oil site is removed from coverage under Southeastern's policy by the first clause in the pollution exclusion. It is the insured's burden to establish facts that would invoke an exception to an exclusion, thereby establishing the existence of coverage under an insurance policy. E.g., Hudson Ins. Co. v. Double D Mgmt.

<u>Co.</u>, 768 F.Supp. 1542, 1545 (M.D. Fla. 1991) (Florida law). case turns on one question: whether Dimmitt carried its burden of establishing that the routine dumping into unlined ponds together with ongoing spills, leaks, seepage, leakage and other regularly occurring events that took place over a period of decades in the usual course re-refining of used oil can be reasonably characterized as a "discharge, dispersal, release or escape [that] is sudden and accidental."

No reasonable interpretation of the exclusion supports any finding of a genuine ambiguity in Southeastern's pollution Applying the apposite rules of construction leads to exclusion. the inescapable conclusion that the word "sudden" must be assigned a temporal meaning as well as a sense of the unexpected. context of the exception to the pollution exclusion, the term "sudden" applies to pollution or contamination which occurs abruptly, instantly, or within a very short period of time. other reading of the pollution exclusion would render it meaning-The use of the word "accidental" in the exception already embodies the concept of unexpectedness. Accordingly, it makes no grammatical or legal sense to ascribe the same concept of unexpectedness to the term "sudden." The choice of interpretations therefore boils down to whether the term "sudden and accidental" means "abrupt and unexpected" or "unexpected and unexpected." The former interpretation is practical and sensible and gives meaning to the entire policy. The latter interpretation is manifestly unreasonable as it reads the word "sudden" out of the policy. addition, Dimmitt's translation of the phrase "sudden and accidental" to mean "unexpected and unintended" unnecessarily replicates

that very language that triggers coverage in the first instance. Dimmitt's proposed construction of the phrase "sudden and accidental" would render key provisions of Southeastern's policy mere surplusage.

Southeastern's pollution exclusion is phrased conjunctively and operates with reference to the nature of the discharge of pollutants. The intent or relative culpability of the insured with respect to the resultant damage is irrelevant under the terms of this exclusion. It is impossible to characterize the discharge of contaminants here as "accidental" since the discharges were the necessary and probable consequence of Peak's regular business operations.

Nor did Dimmitt carry its burden of designating facts in opposition to Southeastern's motion for summary judgment sufficient to demonstrate that the twenty-five years of contaminating discharges occurred "suddenly." Dimmitt barely identified two incidents to support its claim of coverage -- "a major rainfall event" and "an incident when a dike gave way on the sludge holding pond." Dimmitt did not provide a sufficient factual basis to permit any determination of the suddenness of either event. Nor did Dimmitt sustain its burden of demonstrating that the environmental contamination which gave rise to liability resulted from either or both of these two events. Regardless, as a matter of law, it is impossible to parse discrete occurrences or events from a lengthy period of gradual accumulation of pollutants at a pollution-prone operation and then characterize them in isolation as "sudden and accidental" in order to establish insurance coverage.

E.g., Lumbermens Mut. Cas. Co. v. Belleville Ind., Inc., 938 F.2d 1423 (1st Cir. 1991).

The meaning and effect of Southeastern's pollution exclusion is readily ascertained from the four corners of the insurance policy. Hence, there is no need to depart from the ordinary rules of construction and factor extrinsic evidence into the interpretational analysis. Dimmitt's extensive argument is nothing less than a plea to employ extrinsic materials improperly to add meaning to policy language that is clear and to extend coverage beyond the boundaries set by Southeastern's pollution exclusion. The untested and self-serving extrinsic materials proffered by Dimmitt are also inadmissible in evidence against Southeastern and are inherently unreliable. Partisan extrinsic materials of this type are inadequate to assist this Court in making any principled decision with confidence.

The only public policy genuinely implicated in this case is the institutional constraint on the judiciary to give effect to insurance policies as written through the process of neutral application of legal principles. The analytical process must be divorced from the consequences of the result. The various public policies in support of various environmental goals advocated by Dimmitt and amici can only be balanced and resolved by legislative bodies. In defining coverage for environmental contamination in terms of the nature of the discharge, Southeastern's policies adopted a constant frame of reference that would be unaffected by future expansions or contractions of conceptual bases of liability. As this intent is manifest from the four corners of the policy, Southeastern's pollution exclusion must be enforced as written.

ARGUMENT

I. FLORIDA SUBSTANTIVE LAW GOVERNING THE CONSTRUCTION OF INSURANCE CONTRACTS REQUIRES THE COURT TO ENFORCE SOUTH-EASTERN'S POLLUTION EXCLUSION AGAINST THE LONG-TERM GRADUAL ENVIRONMENTAL DAMAGE INVOLVED IN THIS CASE.

A. Analytical Framework

Southeastern's standard liability policies operate first through a broadly defined coverage provision, subject to specified terms and conditions. A loss that falls within the defined coverage is thus insured under Southeastern's policies, unless it is otherwise excluded by a specific provision that expressly removes it from coverage. Florida law provides that it is the insured's burden initially to establish coverage. E.g., Exhibitor, Inc. v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 494 So.2d 288, 289 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), rev. denied, 503 So.2d 327 (Fla. 1987). The operative language determining coverage under Southeastern's policies in the first instance is defined in terms of an "occurrence" and an "accident." Coverage is initially provided for

all sums which the INSURED shall become legally obligated to pay as DAMAGES because of A. BODILY INJURY or B. PROPERTY DAMAGE to which this insurance applies, <u>caused</u> by an OCCURRENCE, ...

(emphasis added).

An "occurrence" is defined as

an accident including continuous or repeated exposure to conditions which result in BODILY INJURY or PROPERTY DAMAGE neither expected or intended from the standpoint of the INSURED...

(emphasis added).

The initial determination of coverage under Southeastern's policies necessarily takes into account an unintentional and unexpected event from the standpoint of the insured. In contrast,

the pollution exclusion itself operates in plain terms to remove from coverage all losses attributable to pollution of every kind and source irrespective of anyone's intent:

This coverage does not apply: ... to BODILY INJURY or PROPERTY DAMAGE arising out of the discharge, dispersal, release or escape of smoke, vapors, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, toxic chemicals, liquids or gases, waste materials, or other irritants, contaminants or pollutants into or upon land, the atmosphere or any water course or body of water;

The exception to this broad pollution exclusion operates to reinstate coverage only "if such discharge, dispersal, release or escape is sudden and accidental."

These clearly worded provisions combine to make the insured's intent relevant only in determining initial coverage. That intent is measured with respect to resultant bodily injury or property damage. The intent of the insured is conspicuously absent in the language comprising the pollution exclusion. The exception to the exclusion turns instead on the nature of the contaminating discharges. See Lumbermens Mut. Cas. Co. v. Belleville Ind., Inc., 407 Mass. 675, 679, 555 N.E.2d 568, 571 (1990). Southeastern's policies do not provide coverage for Dimmitt's responsibility for pollution damage unless the polluting discharge (by whomever made) on which liability is premised is both "sudden" and "accidental."

It is the insurer's burden to establish the application of an exclusion. E.g., State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co. v. Pridgen, 498 So.2d 1245, 1248 (Fla. 1986). In this case, there is no question that Southeastern has established the application of the pollution exclusion. The contamination that occurred at the Peak Oil site arose out of "the discharge, dispersal, release or escape of ... pollutants or contaminants into or upon land ... or any water

course or body of water." Dimmitt itself implicitly concedes this point in its formulation of the issue on appeal: "The issue before this Court is the meaning and effect of the phrase 'sudden and accidental' in the underscored language quoted above." Br. at 7.

One of the crucial flaws in Dimmitt's analysis is its assumption that Southeastern bears the substantive burden of negating the exception to the pollution exclusion. contrary, it is the insured that bears the burden of establishing an exception to an exclusion necessary to reinstate coverage. Analytically, this is tantamount to establishing coverage, and allocation of this burden to the insured is consistent with uniform Florida case law. Moreover, allocation of this burden to the insured is supported by the only published Florida decision Southeastern could locate that is directly on point. Hudson Ins. Co. v. Double D Mgmt. Co., 768 F. Supp. 1542, 1545 (M.D. Fla. 1991), citing Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v. Ex-Cell-O-Corp., 702 F.Supp. 1317, 1328 (E.D.Mich. 1988) and Fischer & Porter Co. v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 656 F.Supp. 132, 140 (E.D.Pa. 1986). The <u>Double D</u> case is all the more persuasive since it involved the identical pollution exclusion. "[T]his Court finds that as to the 'sudden and accidental exception' to the 'pollution exclusion' the burden of proof is upon [the insured] to prove that the 'sudden and accidental' exception applies." 768 F.Supp. at 1545; accord Northern Ins. Co. of New York v. Aardvark Assocs., Inc., 942 F.2d 189, 195 (3d Cir. 1991).

B. Florida Rules of Construction

Two fundamental rules of construction provide the benchmarks for resolving this case. First, by statutory and case law, in

construing an insurance contract it is mandatory to consider the policy as a whole, reading each provision together with all other terms and conditions found in the policy. §627.419 (1), Fla. Stat. (1989) ("Every insurance contract shall be construed according to the entirety of its terms and conditions as set forth in the policy..."); accord, e.g., Gulf Tampa Drydock Co. v. Great Atlantic Ins. Co., 757 F.2d 1172, 1174 (11th Cir. 1985) (Florida law); St. Paul Guardian Ins. Co. v. Canterbury School of Fla., Inc., 548 So.2d 1159, 1160 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). In order to give effect to the entirety of the policy, its language and provisions must not be construed so that they become mere surplusage. E.g., Supreme Int'l Corp. v. Home Ins. Co., 428 So.2d 295, 296 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). Conversely, the Court must not focus on an isolated sentence when resolving a question of coverage. James v. Gulf Life Ins. Co., 66 So.2d 62 (Fla. 1953); Ellenwood v. Southern United Life Ins. Co., 373 So.2d 392, 395 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979).

The second important rule of construction limits the power of the judiciary to upset the contractual expectations of the parties to an insurance contract. Southeastern does not quarrel with the general proposition that exclusionary provisions of an insurance policy that are truly ambiguous or otherwise susceptible to more that one reasonable meaning are to be construed in favor of the insured. This familiar adage is of little moment here. Dispositive of this case is the crucial corollary to this general rule of contra proferentum:

Only when a <u>genuine</u> inconsistency, uncertainty, or ambiguity in meaning remains after resort to the ordinary rules of construction is the rule apposite. It does not allow courts to rewrite contracts, add meaning that is

not present, or otherwise reach results contrary to the intention of the parties.

State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Pridgen, 498 So.2d 1245, 1248 (Fla. 1986), quoting Excelsior Ins. Co. v. Pomona Park Bar & Pkg. Store, 369 So.2d 938, 942 (Fla. 1979) (emphasis added). Stated differently, this Court cannot, under the guise of construction, enlarge coverage beyond policy language that is clear and unambiguous nor otherwise make a new contract between the parties. E.g., Haenal v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 88 So.2d 888, 890 (Fla. 1956); 30 Fla.Jur.2d, Insurance §§400-01 (1981). Where the language of an insurance contract is clear and unambiguous, the intent of the parties must be derived from the four corners of the policy. E.g., Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v. Cox, 742 F.Supp. 609 (M.D.Fla.), aff'd, 892 F.2d 87 (11th Cir. 1989).

Several other subsidiary principles of policy construction have a bearing on this case. In determining whether a genuine inconsistency or ambiguity is present in an insurance contract, the Court is constrained to afford the policy language a "reasonable, practical and sensible interpretation." Denman Rubber Mfg. Co. v. World Tire Corp., 396 So.2d 728, 729 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); United States Fid. & Guar. Co. v. Hazen, 346 So.2d 632, 634 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977); see also Excelsior Ins., 369 So.2d at 941. A genuine ambiguity exists only when terms or provisions of a policy are hopelessly irreconcilable. Oliver v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 309 So.2d 237 (Fla. 2d DCA), cert. denied, 322 So.2d 913 (Fla. 1975); Government Employees Ins. Co. v. Sweet, 186 So.2d 95 (Fla. 4th DCA 1966). Construction of a provision that leads to an unreasonable and absurd result must be rejected. See, e.g., St.

Paul Guardian Ins. v. Canterbury School, 548 So.2d at 1161. If one interpretation of an insurance policy, considered in context with other provisions as well as the general scope and object of the policy, would lead to an absurd conclusion, then it must be abandoned in favor of one that comports with reason and probability. Travelers Indem. Co. v. Milgen Dev. Inc., 297 So.2d 845 (Fla. 3d DCA), cause dismissed, 303 So.2d 334 (Fla. 1974). The terms of an insurance policy cannot be labeled ambiguous simply because analysis may be necessary to interpret them. Travelers Ins. Co. v. C.J. Gayfer's & Co., 366 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979). Indeed, this Court has held "the mere fact that a provision in an insurance policy could be more clearly drafted does not necessarily mean that the provision is otherwise inconsistent, uncertain or ambiguous." Pridgen, 498 So.2d at 1248.

Applying these complete rules of construction to South-eastern's policy leads to the inescapable conclusion that the phrase "sudden and accidental," in the context of the entire policy, is clear and unambiguous. This clause must be given its reasonable and sensible meaning so that the word "sudden" denotes a temporal aspect of immediacy and abruptness as well as a sense of the unexpected. To confine the interpretation of the word "sudden" to the sense of the unexpected is an unreasonable construction as it would duplicate the meaning of the next word "accidental." Without the temporal aspect of the word "sudden", any other reading of the phrase "sudden and accidental" is illogical as it would also render provisions of the policy superfluous.

C. "Sudden and Accidental" Means Sudden and Accidental.

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